RECEIVED

Jul 15 2024

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to the Court of Appeals
Appeal from Spartanburg County
Honorable Roger L. Couch, Circuit Court Judge

Opinion No. 2023-UP-406 (S.C. Ct. App. Filed December 20, 2023)

Lower Court Case No. 2008-GS-42-05631

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

V.

CARNIE NORRIS,

PETITIONER

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2024-000216

AMENDED PETITION FOR WRIT OF
CERTIORARI TO THE COURT OF
APPEALS

GARY H. JOHNSON
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

I. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in failing to review the record for any evidence of probative value that supported the PCR court's ruling that a balancing under *State v. Bryant*, 369 S.C. 511, 633 S.E.2d 152 (2006) weighed against the admission of Petitioner's prior convictions?

II. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in failing to review the record for any evidence of probative value that supported the PCR court's ruling that the admission of petitioner's prior criminal convictions, including for common law robbery, was prejudicial in a case which turned on whether or not the jury believed appellant was committing an armed robbery rather than simply holding a potential burglar until police arrived on scene?

III. Whether the Court of Appeals has jurisdiction to review the PCR order in light of the factual findings made by the Federal District Court for South Carolina in connection with Petitioner's action under 28 U.S.C. § 2243 that the state failed timely serve its Rule 59(e), SCRCF, motion thereby making its notice of appeal untimely?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

At 8 p.m. on July 16, 2008, A.C. Worthy arrived at the home of Kenneth Chiles. App. 230, ll. 2-14. For the next two hours, the men watched wrestling and drank beer. App. 230, ll. 15-20; App. 240, ll. 5-11.

Around 9 p.m., when it was just starting to get dark on July 16, 2008, seventeen-year old Andrew Bond, Zack Blankenship, Herbert “Hub” Blankenship, Kellen Mayfield, Joseph Holder, Kyle Quinn, “and two other females” gathered in the parking lot of First Baptist Church, where they claimed they were playing frisbee golf, across the street from Chiles’ home. App. 113, ll. 7-22; App. 130, l. 24 – App. 131, l. 21; see also App. 144, ll. 5-11; App. 168, l. 23 – App. 169, l. 6. Also, across the street from Chiles’ home was a free medical clinic. App. 250, ll. 9-15; App. 265, l. 23 – App. 266, l. 9.

Two hours later at 11 p.m., one of the frisbees allegedly landed on top of one of the buildings. App. 114, ll. 6-14; App. 130, l. 24 – App. 131, l. 3; App. 145, ll. 1-6; App. 169, ll. 7-9. Blankenship climbed on top of the roof to attempt to retrieve the frisbee. App. 114, ll. 18-20; App. 145, ll. 7-9; App. 169, ll. 19-20.

Around this time, Petitioner Carnie Norris was walking towards Chiles’ house. App. 231, ll. 4-5; App. 266, ll. 18-24. Petitioner “saw a couple of individuals on the top of the building.” App. 266, ll. 10-17; see also App. 241, ll. 9-10. Petitioner told Chiles that “it looked like somebody was trying to break into a building.” App. 240, l. 24 – App. 241, l. 1; see also App. 252, ll. 16-18; App. 270, ll. 3-9. When Chiles walked outside, he saw “two, or three guys on top of the building.” App. 241, ll. 19-21; App. 255, ll. 5-11; App. 268, ll. 13-15. Chiles got his cell phone from his inside his home. App. 234, l. 18 – App. 235, l. 6; App. 268, ll. 16-20. In

the meantime, Petitioner walked across the street to investigate further into the unusual spectacle of young men on the rooftop of a building in the dead of night. App. 268, ll. 21-24.

At this point, the factual story of what happened on July 16, 2008, diverges substantially. Bond and his frisbee playing companions testified that Petitioner pulled a knife and physically threatened them. App. 114, l. 25 – 116, l. 7. During the confrontation, Bond claimed petitioner took his wallet and pulled material out of it. App. 115, ll. 1 – 6.

In contrast, Petitioner testified that when he arrived and yelled out to ask what the young men were doing, they acted scared and ran. App. 268, l. 25 – App. 269, l. 1; App. 269, ll. 4-6. Bond tried to run away as well, but Petitioner extended his arms to stop him. App. 269, ll. 7-11. Petitioner asked Bond who he was, and in response, Bond pulled out his wallet and cell phone. App. 271, ll. 2-4. To prove his identity, Bond removed some cards from his wallet, which he showed to Petitioner. App. 271, ll. 4-5. Bond then sat down on the ground. App. 271, ll. 5-10.

When Chiles walked across the street, he testified that Petitioner “had one of the guys” “sitting on the ground.” App. 242, l. 22 – App. 243, l. 1; App. 256, ll. 7-11. Petitioner handed Chiles the Bond’s identification – a stack of cards – in case he tried to run. App. 242, ll. 2-4; App. 257, ll. 14-17. Chiles put the cards into his pocket. App. 242, ll. 5-6. As Chiles was trying to call 9-1-1, he saw two officers approaching. App. 242, ll. 7-11.

At this point, according to Bond, Petitioner returned Bond’s cell phone and empty wallet to him. App. 120, ll. 18-22. Bond claimed “six dollars and a debit card” were missing from the wallet. App. 121, ll. 4-7. Bond claimed that Petitioner then “walked across the street back to the house that he came out of.” App. 120, ll. 23-25.

Officer Bradford James arrived on the scene at approximately 11:15 p.m. App. 187, ll. 9-11. He “observed two black males, and a white male laying back on the ground.” App. 187, ll. 14-15. As James approached the group, the two black males walked across the street to a house. App. 187, l. 23 – App. 188, l. 1. When a second officer arrived, the two officers walked across the street to a house where the two black males were sitting on the porch. App. 189, ll. 10-17; App. 211, ll. 8-12. The two men were Petitioner and Chiles. App. 189, ll. 16-17. Petitioner explained to the police that he and Chiles approached the young men to make sure they did not leave before the police arrived. App. 216, ll. 1-7.

Chiles gave the officers a few cards belonging to Bond that were in his pocket. App. 189, l. 24 – App. 190, l. 2; App. 212, ll. 2-6. The police found a kitchen knife in Petitioner’s pocket that he had used earlier in the day to clean some fish. App. 190, ll. 10-11; App. 212, ll. 22-24. Based on the statements from the young men who were allegedly playing Frisbee golf during the middle of the night, the police arrested Petitioner and Chiles. App. 190, ll. 12-14; App. 213, ll. 8-10; App. 279, ll. 11-21.

On September 19, 2008, a Spartanburg County grand jury indicted Petitioner for armed robbery (2008-GS-42-5631). App. 528-529. The state, represented by Barry J. Barnette, called the case to trial before the Honorable J. Derham Cole and a jury on July 6-7, 2009. App. 1. Beverly Dorine Jones represented Petitioner. App. 1. Petitioner was tried along with his co-defendant Kenneth Wayne Chiles, who was represented by J. Roger Poole. App. 1. The jury found Petitioner guilty as charged. App. 335, ll. 17-21. Likewise, the jury found Chiles guilty of armed robbery. App. 335, ll. 22-25. Judge Cole sentenced Respondent to twenty-eight years imprisonment. App. 344, ll. 10-14; App. 527; App. 537. Judge Cole sentenced Chiles to eighteen years imprisonment. App. 344, ll. 4-9.

Petitioner filed a notice of appeal. On Petitioner's behalf, Kathrine H. Hudgins filed a brief pursuant to Anders v. California, 386 U.S. 738 (1967). App. 349-358. On appeal, Ms. Hudgins raised the trial judge's failure to instruct the jury on the law of citizen's arrest where the evidence showed Petitioner had engaged in a citizen's arrest. App. 349-358. Notably, trial counsel did not even request such a charge despite the clear evidence in the record to support citizen's arrest as a defense to the charge; thus, appellate counsel had no choice but to raise the issue in a no merits brief due to South Carolina's error preservation rules. Petitioner submitted a *pro se* response. App. 359-376. On April 18, 2012, the Court of Appeals dismissed Respondent's appeal. State v. Norris, Op. No. 2012-UP-226 (S.C. Ct. App. filed April 18, 2012). App. 377-378. Remittitur was issued on June 19, 2012. App. 379.

Thereafter, Respondent filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR) on November 7, 2012. App. 380-394. Almost two years later, the state filed its return on September 15, 2014. App. 395-403. The Honorable Roger L. Couch convened a hearing on the matter on September 15, 2014. App. 404. Brandt Rucker represented Respondent, and Suzanne White represented the state. App. 404.

By an order filed *September 6, 2017*, Judge Couch granted Petitioner relief from his conviction and sentence and ordered a new trial. App. 498-512. Judge Couch found that trial counsel "failed to render reasonably effective assistance regarding the improper introduction of portions of [Petitioner]'s prior record." App. 503. Judge Couch found that trial counsel's consent to the introduction of the prior convictions, and her introduction of the prior convictions during her direct examination . . . was error." App. 505. Rather, Judge Couch found trial counsel should have objected and required a balancing by the trial court before admission of the prior convictions under State v. Bryant, 369 S.C. 511 (2006). App. 506. Judge Couch found that

the error undermined confidence in the outcome of the trial. App. 505. Moreover, Judge Couch performed the balancing of the Bryant factors and found if “trial counsel had opposed the introduction of the two prior conviction it is more likely than not that the trial judge would have excluded the use of those conviction.” App. 509.

Subsequently, the state moved to alter or amend the judgment pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRC.1 App. 513-522. By an order filed February 15, 2019, Judge Couch denied the state’s motion to alter or amend the judgment. App. 526. On *March 1, 2018*, the state served its notice of appeal. On September 20, 2019, the state filed its petition for writ of certiorari. Respondent filed his return on February 3, 2020.

This Court transferred the case to the Court of Appeals on February 18, 2020. On August 19, 2022, the Court of Appeals granted the state’s petition for writ of certiorari and ordered full briefing on the issue presented. Following briefing by both parties and oral argument, on December 20, 2023, the Court of Appeals issued an unpublished opinion reversing the decision of the PCR court granting Petitioner a new trial. *See Norris v. State*, No. 2023-UP-406 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Dec. 20, 2023). In reversing, the Court of Appeals found “the PCR court erred in finding that there was a reasonable probability the outcome of the trial would have been different but for trial counsel's errors.” Norris, No. 2023-UP-406 at 5.

Counsel for Petitioner file for rehearing on January 4, 2024, with the Court of Appeals denying rehearing on January 19, 2024.

This Petition follows.

¹ The timeliness of this motion is in question in light of the proceedings before the United States District Court between the parties. That issue has been added to this Petitioner as Argument III, *infra*.

ARGUMENT

I. The Court of Appeals erred in failing to review the record for any evidence of probative value that supported the PCR court’s ruling that a balancing under *State v. Bryant*, 369 S.C. 511, 633 S.E.2d 152 (2006) weighed against the admission of Petitioner’s prior convictions.

An appellate court must give “great deference to the factual findings of the PCR court and will uphold them if there is any evidence of probative value to support them.” Sellner v. State, 416 S.C. 606, 610, 787 S.E.2d 525, 527 (2016). Questions of law are reviewed “de novo” and the PCR court's decision will be reversed “when it is controlled by an error of law.” Id. In this case, the Court of Appeals failed to observe this standard for appellate review and substituted its own view of the facts with no deference to the PCR court’s findings of fact.

The Court of Appeals appears to accept that trial counsel was in error in not contesting the admission of the prior felony convictions.² This finding is in keeping with the Court of Appeal’s earlier opinion in State v. Broadnax, 401 S.C. 238, 246, 736 S.E.2d 688, 692 (Ct. App. 2013) which acknowledged this Court’s holding in State v. Bryant, 369 S.C. 511, 633 S.E.2d 152 (2006) that a “conviction for robbery, burglary, theft, and drug possession, beyond the basic crime itself, is not probative of truthfulness.” Id. 369 S.C. at 517, 633 S.E.2d at 155. As such, any admission of such crimes would fall within Rule 609 (a)(1), SCRE, which is subject to balancing under Rule 403, SCRE. Moreover, under Rule 609(a)(1), SCRE, “when the accused chooses to testify during his trial, if the State seeks to introduce impeachment evidence that the accused has been convicted of a crime punishable by imprisonment for more than one year, the evidence is admissible *if the State establishes the probative value of admitting the evidence outweighs its prejudicial effect upon the accused.*” State v. Robinson, 426 S.C. 579, 593, 828

²“Regardless of whether trial counsel was deficient . . .” Norris, No. 2023-UP-406 at 5.

S.E.2d 203, 210 (2019). This Court’s guidance on the required balancing outlines factors the trial court should consider in this gatekeeper role:

- (1) The impeachment value of the prior crime;
- (2) The point in time of the conviction and the witness's subsequent history;
- (3) The similarity of the past crime and the charged crime;
- (4) The importance of the defendant's testimony; and
- (5) The centrality of the credibility issue.

State v. Coif, 337 S.C. 622, 627, 525 S.E.2d 246, 248 (2000).

The PCR court applied the correct standard, but reached a conclusion that the Court of Appeals does not like and second guesses.

A. Impeachment value of the prior crimes.

The Court of Appeals improperly interpreted the PCR court’s order as stating the prior convictions held “no impeachment value.” The PCR court did not in fact rule the prior convictions lacked any impeachment value. To the contrary, the PCR court held:

The first factor is the impeachment value of the prior crime. Under State v. Bryant, “a conviction for robbery, burglary, theft, and drug possession, *beyond the basic crime itself*, is not probative of truthfulness.”

App. 507 (emphasis added). In quoting Bryant, the PCR court acknowledged the impeachment value of criminal convictions for the basic crime itself but emphasized the convictions in the present case were not “crimes of dishonesty” as a matter of law. App. 507. Moreover, the PCR court noted, in an acknowledgement the state had the burden to demonstrate the probative value outweighed the prejudicial impact under Coif, the “two prior convictions, on their face, did not involve crimes of dishonesty. No additional evidence was given by the prosecution when those convictions were proffered that there was anything about the facts surrounding the convictions that showed any dishonesty.” App. 507. The Court of Appeals held it was improper for the PCR court to hold the lack of additional information surrounding the convictions against their

admissibility since, at a PCR hearing, the applicant bears the burden of proof. Norris, No. 2023-UP-406 at 5. This finding confused the import of the PCR court's finding, which focused on a lack of evidence the crimes involved false statements or dishonesty, which would have increased their probative value (a burden that the state was required to shoulder under 609(a)(1), SCRE), rather than the probative value of having committed a crime in and of itself.

The Court of Appeals appears to have combed the record for reasons to disagree with the PCR court's finding on this issue and did not give any "deference to the factual findings of the PCR court." Sellner, 416 S.C. at 610, 787 S.E.2d at 527. The Court of Appeals took this action even though the state, in briefing this issue to the PCR court, acknowledged "the [trial] court failed to make a finding on the record as to the probative versus prejudicial value of the prior convictions and there was no objection to the introduction of the prior convictions lodged." App 490.

B. The point in time of the conviction and the witness's subsequent history.

On the timing aspect of the criminal charges, the Court of Appeals noted "[w]hile the convictions were somewhat dated, they were not remote under Rule 609(b), SCRE. Norris had been released from prison roughly five years before trial. The trial court could have found this proximity cut in favor of admitting the evidence." Norris, No. 2023-UP-406 at 5. By implication, the Court of Appeal's phrasing also acknowledges the trial court could have, as the PCR court did, find the delay between Petitioner's release and new charges weighed against admission. Again, the Court of Appeals misapprehended its role in evaluating the PCR court's balancing of the Coif factors by substituting its own view of the weighed to be applied to the individual factor and second guesses a factual determination made by the PCR court that it acknowledged could have "cut" the other way.

C. The similarity of the past crime and the charged crime.

On the similarity of the crimes, the Court of Appeals discounted the state's *admissions* to the PCR court that the common law robbery was similar to the armed robbery charge and thus enhanced its prejudicial nature:

Additionally, while Applicant's prior conviction for common law robbery is similar to armed robbery in that they are both robberies, they are not identical. The Supreme Court of South Carolina has held although the "admission of identical convictions for impeachment purposes enhances its prejudicial nature, it does not conclusively render the error so prejudicial that it is not subject to a harmless error analysis." State v. Broadnax, 414 S.C. 468, 779 S.E.2d 789 (2015).

App. 521. Since the state admitted both the similar natures of the crimes and the enhanced prejudicial impact inherent in such convictions, the Court of Appeals' concern on the need of petitioner to have added additional facts in this regard would be redundant. App. 516.

"[E]vidence of similar offenses inevitably suggests to the jury the defendant's propensity to commit the crime with which he is charged. This risk is not eliminated by limiting instructions." Colf, 337 S.C. at 628, 525 S.E.2d at 249. "[W]hen the prior offense is similar to the offense for which the defendant is on trial, the danger of unfair prejudice to the defendant from impeachment by that prior offense weighs against its admission." Bryant, 369 S.C. at 517-18, 633 S.E.2d at 156.

As the PCR court held, this factor weighed against the admission of the common law robbery in his armed robbery trial. App. xxx.

D. The importance of the defendant's testimony.

The PCR court correctly outlined the importance of Petitioner's testimony, and that factual finding was not questioned by the Court of Appeals. App. 508.

E. Importance of credibility.

Under credibility, the Court of Appeals held since “Norris's credibility was central weighs in favor of admitting the evidence.” Norris, No. 2023-UP-406 at 5. However, the PCR court never ruled that since Norris’ credibility was central, it would weigh this particular factor against admission of the prior convictions. This portion of the PCR order followed the similarity of convictions analysis which weighed heavily against admission, and the PCR court noted the “use of the prior convictions harmed undoubtedly the Applicant's ability to have the jury fairly consider his version of events.” App. 508. The Court of Appeals even noted the balancing of these two elements would have likely resulted in the “circuit court judge ‘sanitizing’ the prior convictions in an attempt to cure unfair prejudice.” Norris, No. 2023-UP-406 at 5. This admission by the Court of Appeals, that there was unfair prejudice, precludes a finding that the PCR court abused its discretion in reaching the same conclusion.

F. Summary.

The PCR court and the Court of Appeals disagreed on the likely admissibility of the crimes in question, despite both courts applying the same balancing factors outlined in Colf and Bryant. This is the nature of a discretionary ruling. Two different courts may well reach different conclusions in balancing the same factors as this Court has cautioned:

In any given case involving the same indicted charges, two different trial courts could examine the same prior conviction(s), evaluate the same five *Colf* factors, and perhaps reach opposite conclusions as to the admissibility of the prior convictions. In such an instance, it is conceivable that under our standard of review, both trial courts would be affirmed. *This is the nature of our standard of review in Rule 609(a)(1) cases when a trial court weighs the probative value of a prior conviction against its prejudicial effect.*

Robinson, 426 S.C. at 607, 828 S.E.2d at 217 (emphasis added).

The standard of review in evaluating a balancing of a discretionary ruling by the PCR court dictates such ruling be upheld if there is any evidence of probative value in the record to support the PCR court. Sellner, 416 S.C. at 610, 787 S.E.2d at 527. “Under the proper standard of review, the appellate court's ‘view’ must be limited to whether there is probative evidence to support the PCR court's factual findings. Ordinarily, the appellate court is not free to make its own factual findings.” Buckson v. State, 423 S.C. 313, 320, 815 S.E.2d 436, 440 (2018). Here, the Court of Appeals erred in elevating its disagreement over the factual conclusions by the PCR court and does not give appropriate deference to the PCR court’s factual rulings on the balancing required before the admission of evidence of past crimes against and accused under Rule 609(a)(1), SCRE.

II. The Court of Appeals erred in failing to review the record for any evidence of probative value that supported the PCR court’s ruling that the admission of petitioner’s prior criminal convictions, including for common law robbery, was prejudicial in a case which turned on whether or not the jury believed appellant was committing an armed robbery rather than simply holding a potential burglar until police arrived on scene.

The Court of Appeals also improperly discounted the PCR court’s findings of fact concerning the prejudicial impact of the admission of the common law robbery conviction. In its order, the PCR court found the “case had two competing and diametrically opposed narratives, one for the prosecution and one for the defense. *The use of the prior convictions harmed undoubtedly the Applicant’s ability to have the jury fairly consider his version of events.*” App. 508 (emphasis added). In contrast, the Court of Appeals reviewed the same record and same arguments (the state has consistently argued lack of prejudice due to the weight of evidence including before the PCR court) but found “the evidence admitted at trial shows Norris’s guilt was conclusively proven by competent evidence, such that the jury could reach no other rational conclusion.” Norris, No. 2023-UP-406 at 6.

The Court of Appeals, particularly in a factual driven, prejudicial impact question, was required to provide appropriate deference to the PCR court’s finding of fact concerning prejudice. It should have reviewed the record for any evidence that would support the PCR court’s factual findings.

If it had done so, the Court of Appeals would have cited the strange behavior of the frisbee players in climbing on the roof of buildings, near a free medical clinic, in a “seedy” area of town. The Court of Appeals would have taken both Petitioner and Chiles at their words that they were simply trying to prevent the strange behaving people from leaving the area while they

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