STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

RECEIVED

Sep 23 2024

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
The Roger L. Couch, Circuit Court Judge

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Appellate Case No. 2024-000216

CARNIE NORRIS,

Petitioner,

v.

THE STATE,

Respondent.

AMENDED RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOSHUA A. EDWARDS
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

- I. **The PCR court erred as a matter of law in its analysis of the impeachment value of Norris's prior convictions, and the Court of Appeals correctly reversed the grant of relief because impeachment was proper.**

The PCR court committed multiple errors of law when analyzing Norris's impeachment with prior convictions, failing to apply the law as explained by this Court in State v. Robinson, 426 S.C. 579, 828 S.E.2d 203 (2019). The Court of Appeals correctly reversed. Norris was not prejudiced by counsel's failure to object because impeachment was proper. Certiorari should be denied.

Norris was on trial for armed robbery. The State alleged Norris and a co-defendant approached a group of teenagers as the teens were playing a nighttime game of frisbee golf. Several of the group identified Norris at trial as the person who pushed Andrew Bonds to the ground, held him at knifepoint while claiming to be a security guard, and stole items from his wallet. (App. 113–20, 144–47, 169–76). Police responded quickly and observed Norris walking away from the group. Police recovered a knife from Norris's person and some of Bonds's financial cards from the codefendant. (App.187–91). Norris claimed he thought the boys were attempting to break into a church building by the frisbee golf course and that he was not robbing Bonds. (App.210–13).

Norris testified at trial. Trial counsel did not oppose impeachment with two prior convictions: an October 12, 1995, conviction for second-degree burglary, non-violent; and a January 17, 1996, conviction for common law robbery. (App. 225-28). Norris was sentenced to imprisonment for these crimes and was released on parole

on January 29, 2004. (App. 534). Thus, the convictions were within ten years' of the trial of this case for purposes of Rule 609(b), SCRE (providing evidence of prior convictions is "not admissible if a period of more than ten years has elapsed since the date of the conviction or of the release of the witness from the confinement imposed for that conviction, whichever is the later date, unless the court determines, in the interests of justice, that the probative value of the conviction supported by specific facts and circumstances substantially outweighs its prejudicial effect.") (emphasis added).

However, the PCR court failed to correctly apply Rule 609(b), holding the date of the convictions, not the date of release from incarceration, was the pertinent date for purposes of the "point in time" factor of State v. Colf, 337 S.C. 622, 525 S.E.2d 246 (2000) (explaining factors courts should consider in assessing impeachment value of prior convictions). (App. 507–08). Thus, the PCR court viewed the time that elapsed between conviction and impeachment as 12 or 13 years instead of 5 years. The Court of Appeals correctly held this was error. This error of law tainted the remainder of the PCR court's analysis. The date of release, not the date of conviction, is important because it is this time period which tends to show a continuing disregard for the law.

The PCR court made several other errors of law in its analysis of the Colf factors. It cited State v. Bryant, 369 S.C. 511, 633 S.E.2d 152 (2006), for the proposition that convictions for robbery and burglary are "not probative of truthfulness." (App.507). But as this Court explained in Robinson, just because

robbery and burglary are not “crimes of dishonesty” under Rule 609(a), SCRE, and thus automatically admissible, does not mean they have no impeachment value. Robinson, 426 S.C. at 599, 828 S.E.2d at 213. If this was true, “no convictions would ever have impeachment value under Rule 609 unless they were crimes of dishonesty or false statement admitted under Rule 609(a)(2). Rule 609(a)(2) would inevitably swallow Rule 609(a)(1).” Id. The PCR court failed to recognize any impeachment value in Norris’s prior convictions for common law burglary and second-degree robbery, even though these convictions for serious crimes showed Norris’s history of total disregard for the law. This affected his credibility and weighed heavily in favor of impeachment.

The fourth Colf factor is the centrality of credibility to the case. Colf, 337 S.C. at 627, 525 S.E.2d at 248. The PCR court misapplied this factor as well. It held the importance of credibility to the case weighed against impeachment. But as this Court explained in Robinson, the more important a witness’s credibility is to the case, the more important it is to allow impeachment. Robinson, 426 S.C. 579, 828 S.E.2d 217 (2019) (explaining “when credibility is central to a case, the introduction of prior convictions for impeachment purposes becomes even more legitimate.”). The PCR court committed another error of law by misapplying this factor.

The final Colf factor is the importance of the defendant’s testimony. Colf, 337 S.C. at 627, 525 S.E.2d at 248. The PCR court did not analyze this factor, and thus its balancing of the Colf factors was incomplete. (App. 508). However, Norris’s

testimony was not necessary to his defense. His codefendant testified before him and essentially presented Norris's version of events to the jury. Norris's testimony was gratuitous. Robinson, 426 S.C. at 603, 828 S.E.2d at 216 (noting defendant's "testimony was largely cumulative to that of other witnesses").

Because a proper analysis of the Colf factors shows Norris's prior convictions were admissible for impeachment, Norris failed to show prejudice from counsel's failure to object. The PCR court found that if "trial counsel had opposed the introduction of the two prior convictions, it is more likely than not that the trial judge would have excluded the use of those convictions." (App. 509). This was error in two ways. First, to show prejudice, Norris was required to show the trial court would have abused its discretion by allowing impeachment. See Wolfe v. State, 326 S.C. 158, 163, 485 S.E.2d 367, 370 (1997) (in context of plea counsel's failure to move for continuance, applicant was required to demonstrate the trial court "would have abused its discretion in refusing to grant a continuance motion"). Because impeachment was proper under the rules, the trial court would not have abused its discretion by allowing impeachment, even if counsel had objected. Second, the finding of prejudice was a consequence of the PCR court's erroneous 609(b) analysis, and thus rests on legal error.

Norris attempts to portray the PCR court's findings regarding prejudice as factual in nature, but they are legal conclusions. (Petitioner's issue #2). The Strickland "reasonable probability" prejudice analysis presents a question of law, which the appellate court reviews de novo unless it rests upon credibility findings or

other determinations of historical fact. The admissibility of prior convictions for impeachment purposes in this case was a question of law, and thus the appellate court owed no deference to the PCR court. Regardless, the PCR court's prejudice finding was a product of its erroneous 609(b) analysis. The Court of Appeals correctly reversed.

Furthermore, this issue is not worthy of certiorari because this Court recently explained the relevant law in Robinson. There is nothing new for this Court to explain; the PCR court simply misapplied the law, and the court of appeals corrected the error in an unpublished opinion. Certiorari should be denied.

II. The State timely served its 59(e) motion.

In his amended petition, Norris alleges the appellate court was without jurisdiction to entertain the State's appeal because the State did not timely file its 59(e) motion, making the notice of appeal untimely. Norris admits the State served its motion on opposing counsel within the ten-day window provided by rule. However, he claims the State is barred from asserting this undisputed fact because it did not make that argument in a filing in Norris's ongoing federal habeas case. This argument is without merit.

The State perfected service of its Rule 59(e) motion by mailing it to Norris's PCR counsel on September 12, 2017, the same day it mailed the motion to the Spartanburg County Clerk of Court. (Supp. App. 101, 112). See Rule 5, SCRPC ("Whenever under these rules service is required or permitted to be made upon a party represented by an attorney the service shall be made upon the attorney unless service upon the party himself is ordered by the court. . . . Service by mail is

complete upon mailing of all pleadings and papers subsequent to service of the original summons and complaint.”) (emphasis added). Because the motion was mailed on September 12, it was served within the 10-day window required by rule. See Rule 59(e), SCRPC. (“A motion to alter or amend the judgment shall be served not later than 10 days after receipt of written notice of the entry of the order.”) (emphasis added).

The motion was also mailed to the clerk of court on September 12, 2017. See Rule 5(d), SCRPC (“All papers required to be served upon a party except as provided in Rule 26(g)(1), shall be filed with the court within five (5) days after service thereof.”). Even though the clerk of court returned the State’s motion because the caption listed the wrong docket number, the filing “was complete upon the clerk of court’s receipt of the application.” Barnes v. State, 433 S.C. 399, 403, 859 S.E.2d 260, 262 (2021). The scrivener’s error did not make the filing untimely. Clerks of court have a “ministerial duty to docket filings irrespective of potential procedural flaws that may exist.” Id. at 404, 859 S.E.2d at 261. Regardless, the State re-filed the motion on September 19, 2017. Had PCR counsel objected, the PCR court could still have considered the motion. See Rule 5(d), SCRPC (“Upon failure to serve the summons and complaint, the action may be dismissed by the court on the court’s own initiative or upon application of any party. Upon failure of a party to file other pleadings, motions, or papers, the court may permit filing or proceed as though the same had not been served.”) (emphasis added). However, the issue here is whether the motion was timely served, as Rule 59(e) requires. It was.

Norris claims the State is estopped from asserting timeliness because the issue was “determined by a valid and final judgment” in his federal habeas case. Norris refers to an order denying his motion to alter or amend a previous federal district court order denying the State’s motion to dismiss Norris’s ongoing habeas case. In a previous order, the district court expressed concern that the 59(e) order filed in Norris’s PCR case was not timely and requested the parties to brief the issue. The State responded by arguing the timeliness issue was a question of state law not cognizable in a federal habeas case.

While acknowledging that questions regarding the timeliness of the State’s appeal would be a state law/state court matter and being aware that Norris’s request for further review was pending in this Court, the district court directed that Norris’s state appellate “counsel should ensure these timeliness argument[s] are presented to the South Carolina Supreme Court immediately and without delay” because “the timeliness questions presented by Norris here are a determination for the South Carolina Supreme Court to make in the first instance.” (Supp. App. 97). Thus the federal court did not issue a final judgment on the claim, and instead directed Norris to raise the issue in this Court.

The order denying Norris’s motion to amend its previous order staying the case was not a final judgment and does not implicate the collateral estoppel doctrine. See State v. Hewins, 409 S.C. 93, 107, 760 S.E.2d 814, 821 (2014). As explained above, the motion was timely served. Thus even if collateral estoppel was at play, application of the doctrine would not be appropriate in this case. Id. at 106,

760 S.E.2d at 821 (explaining “even if all the elements for collateral estoppel are met, when unfairness or injustice results or public policy requires it, courts may refuse to apply it”).

Norris does not explain why his PCR appellate counsel was directed to raise the issue to this court if the matter was already determined by the federal court. Federal courts sitting in habeas do not normally have authority to rule on matters of state law. See 28 U.S.C. § 2254 (a) (restricting review to assertions prisoner “is in custody in violation of the Constitution or laws or treaties of the United States”); Estelle v. McGuire, 502 U.S. 62, 67–68 (1991) (“[I]t is not the province of a federal habeas court to reexamine state-court determinations on state-law questions.”). The more logical reading is that the district court expressed concern there may be a dispositive jurisdictional issue and the state court should have an opportunity look at the issue and make its own determination.

Furthermore, Norris never raised the estoppel argument to the circuit court or court of appeals at any time. See Rule 242, SCACR (“Only those questions raised in the Court of Appeals and in the petition for rehearing shall be included in the petition for writ of certiorari as a question presented to the Supreme Court.”); Rule 208(1)(B), SCACR (“Ordinarily, no point will be considered which is not set forth in the statement of the issues on appeal.”); Norton v. Opening Break of Aiken, Inc., 319 S.C. 469, 470, 462 S.E.2d 861, 862 (1995) (“Opening Break failed to raise this argument to the Court of Appeals, however, and consequently we decline to address it.”); State v. Jones, 435 S.C. 138, 144, 866 S.E.2d 558, 561 (2021) (“In order for an

issue to be preserved for appellate review, a party must make a ‘contemporaneous objection that is ruled upon by the trial court.’”). Because Norris failed to properly raise this argument below, the issue is not preserved for this Court’s review.

The State timely served its Rule 59(e) motion, and this issue is meritless. Certiorari should be denied.


CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the petition should be denied.